No. 320961



## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington, Respondent v.
Richard M. Payne, Appellant

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

David R. Hearrean
WSBA#17864
Attorney at Law
P.O. Box 55
Wilbur, WA 99185
davidhearrean@gmail.com
(509)324-7840

###

### A. Assignments of error

- 1. The trial court erred when the jury was allowed to hear that Mr. Payne has a prior sex offense plus the victim and mother of that conviction testify. (Oct 2, 2013 Trl RP 731-739).
- 2. The trial court erred by entering the findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding ER 404(b). (CP 628-630; 701-702).
- 3. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Payne's request to stipulate to the element of a prior sex conviction in count 3 and mitigate the major prejudicial effect of the prior sex offense. (CP 642-646).
- 4. The trial court erred when it refused to allow in person interviews of key witnesses prior to trial (March 15, 2013 Status Conf. RP 2-8)
- 5. The trial court erred by violating appearance of fairness doctrine.
- 6. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Payne's motion to confront his accuser (ARH) and ARH did not testify and she was the only alleged victim to the major counts of count 1 and 2 which resulted in life in prison.
- 7. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Payne's motion to dismiss count 1 since no witness testified that they were touched.

- 8. The trial court erred by refusing to dismiss this case due to government misconduct under CrR 8.3. (July 9, 2013 Motion RP. 113-114).
- 9. The trial court erred by proceeding with a vital and important portion of the trial/hearing without Mr. Payne's presence. (Aug. 16, 2013 Show Cause RP. 271-306; 554-555).
- 10. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Payne's request for a missing witness (WPIC 5.20) failure to produce witness) jury instruction.(Oct. 7, 2013 Trl. RP.922-932;CP 752-759).
- 11. The errors by the Honorable Judge O'Connor require reversal and complete dismissal or new trial.
- 12. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Payne's motion to suppress his alleged statements and other evidence.(CP 582-594; 463-467) (June 28, 2013 3.5 Suppress Hrg. P. 70-88; July 9, 2013 3.5 Hrg. RP 70-168; CP 623-627; 655-659; 573-594)(See also Ex. D104 D112).
- 13. The trial court erred by entering the findings of fact and conclusion of law over Mr. Payne's objections for the CrR 3.5 and CrR 3.6 suppression hearing. (July 9, 2013 3.5 Hrg. RP 70-168; CP 623-627).

### B. Issues pertaining to assignments of error

- 1. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional rights were violated by the trial court allowing the jury to hear that Mr. Payne has a prior sex offense and allowing emotional testimony from the prior victim and her mother in the present case.
- 2. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional rights were violated by the trial court entering finding of fact and related conclusions of law regarding the ER 404(b) evidence.(July 9, 2013 404(b) Hrg. RP 177-179; CP 565-572; 628-630;701-702).
- 3. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional right to a fair trial was violated by the trial court denying his request to stipulate to the element of a prior sex conviction in count III. (CP 642-646).
- 4. Whether Mr. Payne's due process rights were violated by the trial court when it refused to allow in person interviews of key witnesses prior to trial-Mr. Payne was indigent.(March 15, 2013 Status Conf. RP 2-8)
- 5. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional right to a fair trial was violated by the trial court and whether Judge O'Connor violated appearance of fairness doctrine..

- 6. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional right to confront his accuser (ARH) was violated when ARH did not testify and she was the only alleged victim to the major counts of count 1 and 2 which resulted in life in prison.
- 7. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional rights were violated by the trial court not dismissing count 1 since no witness testified that they were touched.
- 8. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional rights were violated when the trial court refused to dismiss this case due to government misconduct under CrR 8.3. (July 9, 2013 Motion P. 113-114).
- 9. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional due process rights were violated by the trial court when the court proceeded with a vital and important portion of the trial/hearing without Mr. Payne's presence. (Aug. 16, 2013 Show Cause P. 271-306; 554-555).
- 10. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional rights were violated when the trial court denied his request for a missing witness jury instruction. (Oct. 7, 2013 Trl. P.922-932; CP 752-759).
- 11. Whether the errors committed by Judge O'Connor require reversal and complete dismissal or new trial.

- 12. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional rights were violated when the trial court denied Mr. Payne's motion to suppress his alleged statements and other evidence. (June 28, 2013 3.5 Suppress Hrg. P. 70-88; July 9, 2013 3.5 Hrg. RP 70-168; CP 176 223; 623-627; 655-659; 573-594)(See also Ex. D104 -D112).
- 13. Whether Mr. Payne's constitutional rights were violated by the trial court entering finding of fact and related conclusions of law regarding the 3.5 and suppression. (June 28, 2013 3.5 Suppress Hrg. P. 70-88; July 9, 2013 3.5 Hrg. RP 70-168; CP 623-627; 655-659; 573-594)(See also Ex. D104 -D112).

### C. Statement of the case

1. Factual Background. On June 21, 2012 at about 8:00 p.m., law enforcement was called about a male who had exposed himself and touched a juvenile. (Oct. 2, 2013 trl. RP 616). According to Officer Willard, he arrived at Bumpers located in the mall at 8:13 p.m. However, the alleged touching and exposure had occurred 2 hours prior at 6:07 p.m., almost two hours before law enforcement was contacted. Additionally, the officer stated that security and others had already viewed a surveillance video before law enforcement was called. (Oct. 2, 2013 Trl RP 622-625). A

Bumpers employee pulled the surveillance video and viewed it with several other individuals. Several minutes later, mall security was also viewing the video. The store employee identified Mr. Payne as the individual in the video. (Oct. 2, 2013 Trl. RP 656-659). The employee also stated that the mother of the five year old was also watching the video and became very hysterical. The video is not the best quality. This Bumpers employee released the surveillance video to the press and the press released the video on the news and informed the public that Mr. Payne had a prior conviction of child molestation. (Oct. 2, 2013 Trl. RP 667-674). ARH's brother reported that he was present at the mall and noted that his sister really did not know what was going on. This witness stated that he also viewed the video surveillance with other family members. ARH's brother also stated that KC, the eleven year old present with ARH, did not say much at first. While everyone was watching the video, including several family members, several people started screaming and crying and were upset after they saw the video. ARH's brother also verified that a lot of people really did not know what happened until they watched the video and KC and the girls were close by and witnessed the reaction of the crying and

screaming. Further, he stated that the man pulled his penis out of his pants and was following the girls around. (Oct. 2, 2013 Trl. RP 665-695). ARH's mother, who was shopping at the time, was contacted and she stated that she wanted to find out what happened and get to the bottom of it and then she viewed the video. Her older son did not believe that it was that bad, so she made him watch the video also. ARH's mother stated that she saw Mr. Payne's hand on her daughter's backside while she was sitting on a wave runner or jet ski machine. She verified that she did not personally witness Mr. Payne touch anyone until she watched the video. She stated that she saw in the video, the gentleman take out his penis, however, after viewing the video closer, she realized that "he did not pull himself out". She admitted that when she first watched the video, she thought she saw him pull his penis out and she screamed. All her children were close by and heard her panic. She admitted that after she watched the video, she literally lost it and began screaming and crying. ARH, the five year old girl, came up to her and asked "Mom, are you okay?". The police were not contacted until two hours later, after the video was repeatedly watched. Ms. Holland (ARH's mother) believed in the beginning

that she viewed him taking himself out of his pants; however, the screen was small, so you could not see detail. (Oct. 2, 2013 Trl. RP 702-717). Afterwards, KC, the 11 year old agreed that she saw Mr. Payne touch ARH as charged in Count 2 and expose himself as charged in Count 3 but did not see any touching as charged in Count 1. However, she did indicate that she did not really see any touching until she watched the video on the news. (Oct. 2, 2013 Trl. RP 835-854; 824-834; 742-750). Within a few days, detectives went to Mr. Payne's residence to gather evidence against him. Upon arrival at Mr. Payne's residence they knocked on the front door and when there was no answer, they walked to the side of the residence looking for Mr. Payne. One detective tip toed at the west side of the yard and peeked over the 6 foot privacy fence and called to Mr. Payne to come and talk to them. Mr. Payne complied and stated that he felt that he had to cooperate or he would be arrested. The detectives did most of the talking and Mr. Payne just agreed with what they were asking after they told him that the video showed him exposing his penis and touching the 5 year old girl, ARH.(July 9, 2013 3.5 Hrg RP 71-135; Oct. 2, 2013 Trl. RP637-647; 753-812). Mr. Payne was later arrested and charged with 2

counts of Child molestation in the first Degree involving touching ARH and 1 count of indecent exposure with KC, the 11 year old after they watched the video. ARH never testified or was interviewed by anyone including a child forensic interviewer. The prosecution and Judge O'Connor refused to assist Mr. Payne in arranging and paying for any interview of ARH or KC even though Mr. Payne was unemployed and indigent.(Mar 15, 2013 Hrg RP 5-9). Mr. Payne experienced numerous obstacles preventing him from in person interviews of a majority of the family members of ARH including ARH. Just before the August 2013 trial date, Mr. Payne's defense counsel suffered an illness and had to continue the trial due to this illness. Judge O'Connor found him in contempt of court and held the show cause hearing without Mr. Payne being present. This show cause was for the purpose of attempting to replace Mr. Payne's defense counsel and other important matters. Judge O'Connor held the hearing without Mr. Payne and granted an arrest warrant for Mr. Payne's failure to appear. The warrant was guashed by another judge the next working day when Mr. Payne explained that he did not believe it involved him and did not know of the importance. (Aug 1 and 16, 2013 Hrg RP 244-307). Mr.

Payne was tried and convicted by jury who were informed over his objection that he was convicted in 2001 of atternpted child molestation in the first degree. Mr. Payne was then sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole. He now appeals. (All other reference to the record is quoted in the Argument section).

### D. Argument

1.Mr. Payne claims he was denied a fair trial and the trial court erred by allowing the jury to hear that he has a prior sex offense and allowed the victim and mother of such prior testify at trial-prejudicial value outweighed the probative value (June 28, 2013 PT Motions RP 5-24; CP 565-572).

Mr. Payne claims that Judge O'Connor erred by allowing the prosecutor to present to the jury sexual propensity evidence such as his prior sex offense he pleaded guilty to over 10 years ago. Mr. Payne claims that by Judge O'Connor allowing this prior sex conviction and emotional testimony from the prior victim and her mother into evidence in front of the jury, it was so inflammatory and facially unfair as to be dispositive, and render a guilty verdict a mere formality. In <u>State v. Smith</u>, 103 Wash. 267, 268 (Wash. 1918) which is an early Washington case, shows how the use of propensity strips away the defendants right to a fair trial because

the state no longer has to prove mens rea in the present acts. In that case, our Supreme Court warned:

There is no more insidious and dangerous testimony than that which attempts to convict a defendant by producing evidence of crimes other than the one for which he is on trial, and such testimony should only be admitted when clearly necessary to establish the essential elements of the charge which is being prosecuted. Smith at 268.(emphasis added).

Thus, Mr. Payne argues that the challenged 404(b) rule that allows the use of propensity evidence frees the state of its burden to prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt. There can be no question that the inflammatory effect on a jury of the admission of such evidence is dispositive, and makes the guilty verdict almost a formality. As reasoned by sister state, and companion Ninth Circuit denizen, Arizona,

Our supreme court recognized seventeen years ago in <u>Treadaway</u> that evidence of prior sexually aberrant acts can be so highly prejudicial as to be "nearly dispositive, making the guilty verdict almost a formality." 116 Ariz. at 167, 568 P.2d at 1065. <u>State v. Salazar</u>, 181 Ariz. 87, 93 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1994).

In addition to the legislative intent, Washington courts have noted the inapplicability of propensity evidence based on prior occasions to proving what happened on a particular occasion. "Evidence of prior felony convictions is generally inadmissible against a defendant because it is not relevant to the question of guilt yet very prejudicial, as it may lead the jury to believe the defendant has a propensity to commit crimes.' "(quoting State v. Hardy, 133 Wn.2d 701, 706, 946 P.2d 1175 (1997) and citing Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice: Evidence § 114, at 383 (3d ed. 1989))). State v. Roswell, 165 Wn.2d 186, 197 (Wash. 2008)

### a.Common scheme or plan finding was error

Another purpose for which the court admitted Mr. Payne's prior conviction and which he claims error was as evidence of a common scheme or plan. "There are two instances in which evidence is admissible to prove a common scheme or plan: (1) 'where several crimes constitute constituent parts of a plan in which each crime is but a piece of the larger plan' and (2) where 'an individual devises a plan and uses it repeatedly to perpetrate separate but very similar crimes.' "State v. Gresham, 173 Wn. 2d 405, 421–22, 269 P. 3d 207 (2012) (quoting Lough, 125 Wash.2d at 854–55, 889 P.2d 487). In the second instance, evidence of the prior act is offered to show that the defendant developed a plan and has again put that particular plan into action. Id. at 422; Lough, 125 Wash.2d at 852, 889 P.2d 487. Mr. Payne claims that all these cases including Lough involve multiple prior bad acts and not a

single act that occurred over 10 years ago. In State v. Lough, 125 Wash.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995), our Supreme Court held that common plan or scheme consisted of (plural) prior bad acts evidence that could be admitted to establish or could be established by evidence that defendant committed markedly similar acts of misconduct against similar victims under similar circumstances. Thus, Mr. Payne points out that the Lough court involved more than one act to be considered a common scheme or common plan. In the present case, Judge O'Connor allowed just one single act that occurred over 10 years ago to be considered a common scheme and plan in which Mr. Payne pleaded guilty. Therefore, a single act that occurred over 10 years ago cannot be considered a common scheme or plan under law and only was admissible by Judge O'Connor to show that Mr. Payne is a "criminal type", and is thus likely to have committed the crime for which he is presently charged. Additionally, our Supreme Court followed State v. McKinney, 110 N.C.App. 365, 372, 430 S.E.2d 300, 304 (1993) which further explained that a defendant's prior sexual misconduct offered to show a common plan or scheme must be sufficiently similar to the crime with which the defendant is

charged and not too remote in time. However, as the McKinney court also explained, while the lapse of time between instances may slowly erode the commonality between acts, when similar acts have been performed repeatedly over a period of years, the passage of time serves to prove, rather than disprove, the existence of a plan. (Emphasis added). Hence, common scheme and plan requires repeated acts over years in order to be considered admissible under ER 404(b). Finally, Mr. Payne also points out that even numerous prior acts are not automatically admissible. As noted in State v. Gresham, 173 Wn. 2d 405, 269 P. 3d 207 (2012), the grounds for admission specified in Rule 404(b) are not magic words, the utterance of which automatically admits all uncharged misconduct evidence. The State has the burden to show precisely how the proffered evidence is relevant to the theory advanced, how the issue to which it is addressed is related to the disputed elements in the case, and how the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect. In this regard, in State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn. 2d 870, 886, 204 P. 3d 916 (2009) the court is reminded, "[w]e have previously cautioned about the admissibility of other sex crimes,

warning that [c]areful consideration and weighing of both relevance and prejudice is particularly important in sex cases, where the potential for prejudice is at its highest." State v. Coe, 101 Wn. 2d 772, 780-81, 684 P. 2d 668 (1994). And, "[i]n cases where admissibility is a close call, "the scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant and exclusion of the evidence." State v. Smith, 106 Wn. 2d 772, 776, 725 P. 2d 951 (1986), quoting, State v. Bennett, 36 Wn. App. 176, 180, 672 P. 2d 772 (1983). As observed in State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn. 2d 358, 363, 655 P. 2d 697 (1982):

... One need not display an imposing list of statistics to indicate that community feelings everywhere are strong against sex offenders. .. Once the accused has been characterized as a person of abnormal bent, driven by biological inclination, it seems relatively easy to arrive at the conclusion that he must be guilty, he could not help but be otherwise. When deciding the issue of guilt or innocence in sex cases, where prejudice has reached its loftiest peak, our courts . . . [offer] scant attention to inherent possibilities of prejudice. Just when protection is needed most the rules collapse.

Indeed, in <u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn. 2d 405, 269 P. 3d 207 (2012) the Supreme Court, fully aware of <u>Salterelli</u> by favorable citation in the body of the opinion thereto, had no hesitation

striking a statute allowing propensity evidence at trial, restating while doing so, yet again, "[p]roperly understood, then, ER 404(b) is a categorical bar to admission of evidence for the purpose of proving a person's character and showing that the person acted in conformity with that character." In fact, the Supreme Court quoted Professor Tegland, emphasizing, "In no case, ... regardless of its relevance or probativeness, may the evidence be admitted to prove the character of the accused in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith."(Emphasis In Original) "Critically there are no 'exceptions' to this rule." Id.

# b.There is no common scheme or plan and the effort to show common scheme or plan is unduly prejudicial and irrelevant and should be denied

Mr. Payne challenges Judge O'Connor's finding that the 2001 prior sex conviction of Attempted Child Molestation in the First Degree can be used under ER 404(b) for the purpose of proving a common scheme or plan. Thus, he claims that the 2001 conviction should not have been admitted for the purpose of showing a common scheme or plan. This is in part due to the fact Mr. Payne did not commit the crimes presently charged and there is no evidence to prove he did so. For example, the alleged video

surveillance does not support the claim Mr. Payne exposed himself. The evidence also shows the female Mr. Payne allegedly touched did not and could not see anything nor did or could the other child. More particularly, and of equal importance, as <u>State v. Gresham, citing State v. Lough,</u> 125 Wn. 2d 847, 853, 889 P. 2d487 (1995), and <u>State v. DeVincentis,</u> 150 Wn. 2d 11, 74 P. 3d 119 (2003) explain:

. . . There are two instances in which evidence is admissible to prove a common scheme or plan: (1) "where several crimes constitute parts of a plan in which each crime is but a piece of the larger plan" and (2) where "an individual devises a plan and uses it repeatedly to perpetrate separate but very similar crimes." . . . In order to introduce evidence of the second type of common scheme or plan, the prior misconduct and the charged crime must demonstrate "such occurrence of common features that the various acts are naturally to be explained as caused by a general plan of which" the two are simply "individual manifestations."
. . . Mere "similarity in results" is insufficient. And the acts must be "markedly and substantially similar. . . . " ID. (Emphasis Added)

Here, it is readily apparent the alleged acts Mr. Payne presently faces and the act supporting the 2001 conviction of Attempted Child Molestation in the First Degree are different. Nor are the alleged acts and the acts supporting the 2001 conviction

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