FILED DECEMBER 30, 2014 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

32096-1-III

COURT OF APPEALS

DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

RICHARD MICHAEL PAYNE, APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF SPOKANE COUNTY

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

STEVEN J. TUCKER Prosecuting Attorney

Mark E. Lindsey Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

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

granted the motion and the State did not call A.R.H. as a witness nor did the State seek to admit any statements by A.R.H. at trial.

Nevertheless, the defense contended that even if A.R.H. did not testify, a *Crawford* confrontation issue still existed because he has the right to cross-examine that person. 4RP 156. The court noted that there is no confrontation issue if A.R.H. did not testify. 4RP 168-169. "She is not going to testify. Nobody is going to testify about what she said to them...So there is no child hearsay...no direct testimony so there is no *Crawford* issue...in this case." 4RP 169.

Now, defendant contends that the court denied his constitutional right to confront his accuser, the five-year-old A.R.H., by not *requiring* her to testify regarding the crimes charged in Counts I and II. Defendant argued to the court that A.R.H. was the only witness to the crimes charged in Counts I and II, so she had to testify or there would be insufficient evidence to support those charges. However, defendant's argument ignores the testimonies of K.C. (5RP 840-842, 845) and Heather Holland (5RP 704-712), wherein they identified the defendant and described his sexual contact with A.R.H. Defendant's argument also ignores his own admissions to Detectives Hensley and Lebsock that he had sexual contact with A.R.H. 5RP 762-768, 808-811, and 816.

Finally, defendant's argument that the only evidence of his molestation of A.R.H. could have come from her ignores the evidence provided by the surveillance video. The record provides ample evidence that defendant had sufficient opportunity to confront all the witnesses and evidence brought against him by the State. The State's decision not to call to the stand a vulnerable and emotionally distraught six-year-old girl did not deprive defendant of his rights of confrontation, due process, and a fair trial.

G. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE JURY VERDICT ON COUNT I.

Defendant claims that insufficient evidence was produced at trial to establish the elements of the crime charged in Count I. Defendant contends that the court should have dismissed Count I pursuant *State v*. *Knapstad*, 107 Wn.2d 346, 729 P.2d 48 (1986), because no witness testified that he had sexual contact with A.R.H. Defendant offers two separate and distinct arguments to support this assigned error.

Initially, a "Knapstad motion" requires that the parties agree there are no material issues of fact in the case. Then the only issue remaining is whether those undisputed facts support the elements of the charged offense. State v. Knapstad, at 352-353. Here, the record is clear that defendant maintained that he never touched A.R.H. and that there was no

evidence of a touching. However, other witnesses testified and defendant admitted that there was touching. 5RP 840-842, 845, 704-712, 762-768, 808-811, and 816. The record presented the court with material issues of fact disputed by the parties, so it had no basis to dismiss Count I pursuant to *State v. Knapstad*.

Alternatively, defendant argues that insufficient evidence supported the crime charged in Count I because A.R.H. did not testify that defendant touched her.

The standard for adjudging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a verdict is whether, after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could find that each element of the offense has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221-222, 616 P.2d 628 (1980). In a criminal case, the reviewing court must draw all reasonable inferences from the evidence in favor of the State and interpret those inferences most strongly against the defendant. *State v. Hagler*, 74 Wn.App. 232, 235, 872 P.2d 85 (1994). Application of that standard requires affirming the conviction found by the court pursuant to the jury verdict rendered regarding Count I.

Here, the evidence amply supported the court's determination that the defendant committed the offense charged in Count I. The evidence included testimony that defendant is the adult male depicted in the video from the arcade (5RP 659), defendant's admissions to detectives and his girlfriend together with K.C.'s testimony that he touched A.R.H. on the thigh and buttocks (5RP 765, 767-768, 788, 809, 840-41, 842, and 845). The testimony was augmented by the surveillance video from the crime scene which showed defendant being near, interacting with K.C. and A.R.H., and then touching A.R.H. There was ample evidence from which a jury could find that defendant committed the crimes charged in Counts I and II beyond a reasonable doubt.

H. DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE CASE FOR GOVERNMENTAL MISCONDUCT UNDER CRR 8.3 WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant claims the trial court erred when it did not dismiss the case for governmental misconduct under CrR 8.3 based upon the detective's failure to disclose that the arcade machines had been moved by the business for the scene photographs.

CrR 8.3(b) provides, in pertinent part:

The court, in the furtherance of justice...may dismiss any criminal prosecution due to arbitrary action or governmental misconduct when there has been prejudice to the rights of the accused which materially affect the accused's right to a fair trial. The court shall set forth its reasons in a written order.

Id.

Before a court may dismiss charges under CrR 8.3(b), the defendant must prove (1) arbitrary action or governmental misconduct,

and (2) prejudice affecting the defendant's right to a fair trial by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003). It is not necessary that the governmental misconduct was evil or dishonest, mere mismanagement is sufficient. State v. Blackwell, 120 Wn.2d 822, 831, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993). Nevertheless, CrR 8.3(b) requires the defendant to show actual prejudice, rather than merely speculative prejudice affecting the right to a fair trial. State v. Rohrich, at 657. The dismissal of charges pursuant to CrR 8.3(b) is an extraordinary remedy that is limited to truly egregious cases of mismanagement. State v. Wilson, 149 Wn.2d 1, 9, 65 P.3d 657 (2003). Finally, a trial court's denial of a CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Blackwell, at 830.

As noted, the reviewing court must determine whether the dismissal of charges pursuant to CrR 8.3(b) was based upon the conclusion that both elements (b)(1) and (b)(2) were proved. An abuse of discretion only occurs when the record reflects that the court's decision was manifestly unreasonable, or was based on untenable grounds, or made for untenable reasons. *State v. Blackwell*, at 830.

A trial court's decision is based "on untenable grounds" or made for "untenable reasons" if it is based on facts unsupported by the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard. *State v. Rundquist*, 79 Wn.App. 786, 793, 905 P.2d 922 (1995). A decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view "that no reasonable person would take." *State v. Lewis*, 115 Wn.2d 294, 298-99, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990), and arrives at a decision "outside the range of acceptable choices." *Rundquist*, at 905. Clearly, such is not the circumstance presented by this record.

Here, defendant filed his CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss, alleging governmental mismanagement based upon the late disclosure regarding the crime scene photographs; however, the issue was fully explored with the jury during the trial. At that point, the issue went to the weight and credibility of the evidence, not its admissibility. The testimony was that the arcade games were moved after the incident, but were moved back to exactly the same position occupied during incident for the photographs. The court properly denied defendant's CrR 8.3(b) motion for a lack of evidence of actual prejudice cause by the alleged misconduct.

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT THE SHOW CAUSE HEARING REGARDING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S CONTEMPT OF COURT.

Defendant claims that he was denied his constitutional right to be present during a "critical stage" of the criminal proceedings when the trial

court conducted the Show Cause hearing regarding the civil contempt charges against his trial counsel without his being present.

The Washington Supreme Court recently examined this issue of the constitutional right to be present in *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 880-81, 246 P.3d 796 (2011).

A criminal defendant has a fundamental right to be present at all critical stages of a trial...Although the right to be present is rooted to a large extent in the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that this right is also 'protected by the Due Process Clause in some situations where the defendant is not actually confronting witnesses or evidence against him.'...In that vein, the Court has said that a defendant has a right to be present at a proceeding 'whenever his presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fullness of his opportunity to defend against the charge.'...The Court went on to indicate, however, that because the relationship between the defendant's presence and his 'opportunity to defend' must be 'reasonably substantial,' a defendant does not have a right to be present when his or her 'presence would be useless, or the benefit but a shadow.' Thus, it is fair to say that the due process right to be present is not absolute; rather 'the presence of a defendant is a condition of due process to the extent that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his absence. (citations omitted.)

Id., at 880-81.

The United States Supreme Court has cautioned that the exclusion of a defendant from a trial should be examined in light of the whole record. *Snyder v. Massachusetts*, 291 U.S. 97, 115, 54 S.Ct. at 335.

This Court recently noted in *State v. Jones*, 175 Wn.App. 87, 107, 303 P.3d 1084 (2013), that:

Article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution provides that '[i]n criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person.' In *Irby*, our Supreme Court recognized that the state constitutional right to appear and defend is arguably broader than the federal due process right to be present...The *Irby* court based this determination in part on *State v. Shutzler*, 82 Wn.365, 367, 144 P. 284 (1914), *overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Caliguri*, 99 Wash,2d 501, 664 P.2d 466 (1983), in which the Supreme Court stated that "it is the right of the accused to be present at every stage of the trial when his substantial rights may be affected." Thus, in Washington, the right to appear and defend as guaranteed by article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution is triggered at any time during trial that a defendant's substantial rights may be affected.

Id., at 107.

Nevertheless, a defendant's federal and state constitutional right to be present at trial may be expressly or impliedly waived. *State v. Garza*, 150 Wn.2d 360, 366, 77 P.3d 347 (2003). An implied waiver occurs when the court determines that the defendant voluntarily absented himself from the trial based on the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* The trial court makes that determination by (1) making sufficient inquiry into the circumstances of the defendant's disappearance to justify whether the absence was voluntary, (2) making a preliminary finding of voluntariness when justified, and (3) affording the defendant an adequate opportunity to explain his absence when he returns. *Id.*, at 367. A trial court's decision

regarding whether the defendant's absence was voluntary is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.*, at 365-66.

Here, defendant was advised on August 2, 2013, that a Show Cause hearing was set for August 16, 2013, to address defense counsel's failure to provide information to the court concerning his medical unavailability for a previously scheduled trial date. CP 8, 6RP 2, 14. The defendant signed the Scheduling Order notifying him of the hearing date and specifically advising that he was required to appear for all scheduled hearings. CP 8. The defendant failed to appear for the August 16, 2013, hearing and a warrant was issued for his arrest. CP 554-555, 7RP 271, 275, 282-283, 289, 293; 8RP 3-9.

Clearly, no evidence was presented to the trial court to support a finding that defendant was prevented from appearing for the hearing. The reasonable inference is that defendant voluntarily absented himself from the hearing and thereby waived his right to be present. The subject matter of the Show Cause hearing had no bearing on his opportunity to defend the charges, had no connection to the presentation or determination of the admissibility of evidence, and had no bearing on the defense theory of the case. The hearing did not concern the defendant's right to confront witnesses. Defendant has failed to show that his absence from the Show

Cause hearing had any effect on any other stage of the proceedings or the outcome at trial.

J. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GIVE A MISSING-WITNESS INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY.

Defendant claims that he was denied a fair trial when the trial court refused his request that the jury be instructed regarding a missing witness. Defendant contends that a Washington Pattern Instructions Criminal ("WPIC") 5.20 missing witness instruction should have been given since the five-year-old A.R.H. was not declared incompetent to testify.

The Washington Supreme Court has held that the missing witness doctrine applies only if (1) the potential testimony is material and not cumulative, (2) the missing witness is particularly under the control of one party rather than equally available to both parties, (3) the witness's absence is not satisfactorily explained, and (4) application of the doctrine will not infringe upon a defendant's right to silence or shift the burden of proof. *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 598-599, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). Here, A.R.H. was not a missing witness; rather, the State elected not to call her as a witness. Equally noteworthy is that neither of the offenses charged in Counts I and II required personal testimony by the alleged victim.

The first prerequisite to application of the missing witness doctrine concerns whether the potential testimony of the missing witness is material and not cumulative. Here, the record supports a finding that the potential testimony of A.R.H. would not be material and not necessarily cumulative even if an emotionally traumatized five-year-old could actually be *made* to testify. The second prerequisite, that the missing witness is particularly under the control of one party, is not supported by the record since the State did not call A.R.H. to testify and offered no statements she made. The defense chose not to place A.R.H. under subpoena and force her to appear for trial. The third prerequisite, that the witness's absence is not satisfactorily explained, is not supported by the record. The court was informed that the counselor who was treating A.R.H. for traumatization advised that it would not be in A.R.H.'s best interests to testify. Finally, the fourth prerequisite, that application of the doctrine will not infringe upon a defendant's right to silence or shift the burden of proof, is clearly not supported by the record since neither the defendant's silence nor the burden of proof was ever at issue. Defendant failed to satisfy the four prerequisites to qualify for the court to even consider giving a missing witness instruction to the jury.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that the defense satisfied the prerequisites for giving a missing witness instruction, review would focus on whether the

court abused its discretion in declining to give the instruction. Again, the question is whether the court denied the request based "on untenable grounds" or for "untenable reasons" based on facts unsupported by the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard. *Rundquist*, at 793. A decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view "that no reasonable person would take." *State v. Lewis*, at 298-99, and arrives at a decision "outside the range of acceptable choices." *State v. Rundquist*, at 793. Again, clearly, such is not the circumstance presented by this record.

K. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT COMMIT CUMULATIVE ERRORS.

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